IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DERRICK MCLEAN,)	
Appellant,)	
vs.)	CASE NO. SC007-2297
STATE OF FLORIDA,)	
STATE OF TEORIDA,)	
Appellee.)	

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES S. PURDY PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

GEORGE D.E. BURDEN ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NO. 0786438 444 Seabreeze Blvd. Suite 210 Daytona Beach, Florida 32118 (386) 252-3367

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The original record on appeal comprises twenty-eight consecutively numbered volumes. The pages of the first thirteen volumes are numbered consecutively from one to 2,059. Volume fourteen begins renumbering the pages sequentially from page one through 1994 which concludes volume twenty-six. Volume twenty-seven begins renumbering the pages sequentially from page one through 276 which concludes volume twenty-eight. Counsel will refer to the record on appeal using the appropriate Roman numeral to designate the volume number followed the appropriate Arabic number referring to the appropriate pages.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Derrick McLean, hereinafter referred to as appellant, was indicted by Grand Jury with Murder in the First Degree; Attempted Home Invasion Robbery with Firearm; Attempted First Degree Murder; Kidnapping with Intent to Commit a Felony with a Firearm; and Attempted Robbery with Firearm. (V 536) The state filed a Notice of Intent to Seek the Penalty of Death. (V 583) The appellant filed eighteen pretrial motions challenging the constitutionality of the Florida death penalty scheme. The trial court denied these Motions. The state filed a Notice to Rely on Aggravators. (VII 953) The state amended the Notice to Rely on Aggravators to include the avoid arrest aggravating factor. (XXIV 1632) The appellant filed a Motion to Declare the avoid arrest aggravator unconstitutional.

¹ Presumption of Death VI 776; Standard of Proof Mitigation VI 779; Inadequate Appellate Review VI 784; Lack of Unanimous Death Verdict VI 806; No Jury Finding of Aggravating Circumstances VI 810; Aggravating Factors not Charged in Indictment VI 814; CCP Aggravating Factor Improper VII 956; Improper Jury Instruction VII 976; Violates *Ring v. Arizona* VII 995; Limited Peremptory Challenges VII 1024; Use of Hearsay Evidence at Penalty Phase VII 1034; Pecuniary Gain Aggravator Improper VII 1038; Prior Violent Felony Aggravator Improper VII 1043; Felony Murder Aggravator Improper VII 1048; Bare Majority of Jurors Required for Death Sentence VII 1060; Inadequate Guidance to Jury VII 1062; Violation of Free Speech VII 1071; Under Sentence of Imprisonment Aggravator Improper. VII 1078

VII 942-947; VIII 1131; VIII 1176; VIII 1197; VIII 1203; VIII 1209; VIII 1215; VIII 1226; VIII 1240; VIII 1250; VIII 1253; VIII 1276; VIII 1284; VIII 1289

³ Under Sentence of Imprisonment; Prior Violent Felony; Felony Murder

(XXIV 1645)

The appellant wrote a letter to the trial court requesting that he be assigned new counsel. (IX 1309) The trial court held a *Nelson* Hearing and the appellant claimed that his counsel was pushing him to take a plea; not investigating his claim of alibi; and taking too long to develop mitigation evidence and depose the codefendants. (III 263-64) The counsel for appellant requested an *in camera* hearing to respond to the alibi issue. (III 265) Counsel approached the bench without the appellant and state and detailed their efforts to investigate the appellant's alibi claim. (III 266) The trial court found that appellant's counsel was providing effective assistance of counsel, and would not discharge counsel. (III 273) The trial court advised the appellant that he could keep current counsel, hire new counsel or represent himself. (III 274)

The appellant filed three Motions to Suppress Evidence related to the photographic and live lineup of the appellant. (IX 1321-1340) The appellant argued that the photographic and live lineups were overly suggestive and should be suppressed. (IX 1334) The appellant also argued that he was entitled to have legal counsel present when the photographic lineup was shown to Mr. Lewis and when the live lineup was conducted at the Orange County Jail. (IX 1321) Finally, the

(Robbery); Pecuniary Gain; CCP.

appellant argued that the photographic and live lineup should be suppressed based upon a violation of due process rights. (IX 1328) After hearing, the trial court denied the appellant's motion to suppress. (X 1502)

The case proceeded to trial. After the jury was sworn, the appellant rejected the state's plea offer for life imprisonment. (XIX 743) The appellant objected to the physical live lineup and inquiry identification as violating the issues raised in the Motion to Suppress. (XIX 820) The appellant requested the ability to cross-examine eyewitness Lewis on his description that he gave of the shooter the day after the shooting. (XIX 834) During Mr. Lewis' deposition he stated that the shooter was five foot nine inches tall where in his direct testimony he stated that the shooter was five foot ten inches tall. (XIX 834) The trial court denied the appellant the ability to cross-examine Lewis on his physical description. (XIX 835) The appellant renewed his objections involving the admissibility of the lineup. (XX 948)

The state rests. (XXIII 1455) The appellant made a Motion for Judgment of Acquittal as to all counts. (XXIII 1456-1471) The trial court denied the Motion for Judgment of Acquittal as to Count I, II, III, and V and took the Motion for Judgment of Acquittal on Count IV under advisement. (XXIII 1470, 1472) The appellant rests. (XXIII 1479) The jury returned a verdict of guilty as charged to all

charges. (XXIV 1628)

PENALTY PHASE

The state announced that it would not proceed with the CCP aggravating factor. (XXIV 1652) The appellant stipulated to the aggravating factor that the appellant was on felony probation at the time of the offense. (XXIV 1653) The appellant objected to the jury being instructed on the avoid arrest aggravating factor. (XXIV 1663) The appellant's objection to the avoid arrest aggravating factor was overruled. (XXIV 1672)

The appellant rests. (XXV 1874) Appellant requested a special jury instruction that the jury must unanimously find aggravating circumstance before it is established. (XXV 1919) The trial court denied the appellant's special jury instruction. (XXV 1919) The jury recommended that Derrick McLean be sentenced to death by a vote of nine (9) to three (3). (XXV 1983)

The trial court found that the state proved three statutory aggravating factors.⁴ (XI 1768) The trial court found that the state failed to prove the avoid arrest aggravating factor beyond a reasonable doubt. (XI 1772) The trial court found that the statutory mitigating factors extreme mental or emotional disturbance and the capacity to conform his conduct to the requirements of law was

⁴ Under Sentence of Imprisonment (Moderate Weight); Prior Violent Felony

substantially impaired was reasonably established but gave them little weight. (XI 1775) The trial court found non-statutory mitigation but gave it little weight. (XI 1776-1779) The trial court sentenced the appellant to death on Count I, twenty-five year minimum mandatory as to Count II and V; and life imprisonment on Count III and IV. (XI 1780) The sentences imposed on counts III, IV and V are concurrent with each other and consecutive to the sentences imposed in Count I and II. (XI 1780)

(Great Weight); Felony Murder/Pecuniary Gain (Great Weight).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Theothlus Lewis and his wife Shirley Lewis were next door neighbors to Jahvon Thompson in the Silver Pine Apartments. (XIX 792) Lewis was watching television when he heard two booms and thought it was loud music next door. (XIX 795) Lewis went next door to stop the noise. (XIX 796) The appellant opened the door and had a gun and motioned Lewis to come into the apartment. (XIX 796) The appellant asked Lewis "where was the money at." (XIX 799) Lewis put his hands in his pockets and pulled the inside pockets out and said he did not have any money. (XIX 799) Lewis then observed a masked man with Jahvon coming from the hallway area. (XIX 799) Lewis was then seated on a couch in the apartment and Jahvon was told to sit next to him. (XIX 802) The appellant then kept searching through the apartment while the mask person stood there with the gun. (XIX 802)

After concluding the search, the appellant told the guy with the mask to go outside and if he sees the girl next door to shoot her. (XIX 805) The appellant stood by the door with the gun and sensing something was wrong Lewis dove to the floor and crawled towards the back room. (XIX 808) As soon as Lewis turned back around he felt a bullet go across his ear. (XIX 808) Lewis then realized he was shot in the back. (XIX 808) Several other shots were fired. (XIX 808) After a

few moments Lewis got up and started walking towards the door. (XIX 809)

Lewis observed Jahvon in the apartment and had multiple gunshots in his chest.

(XIX 809) Lewis went to his apartment door and his wife let him in. (XIX 810)

Lewis gave a description of the appellant to the police. (XIX 811) Lewis worked with a police sketch artist to develop a composite sketch of the appellant. (XIX 811) Lewis also was provided a photo lineup by the police and picked photo number five as being the appellant. (XIX 819) Lewis made a in court identification of the appellant as being the shooter. (XIX 821)

Captain Ellis of the Orlando Police Department was driving in an unmarked car in the vicinity of the Skyline apartments at the time of the shooting. (XX 874) Captain Ellis was advised that there was a shooting at the apartments. (XX 874) Captain Ellis observed a brown vehicle exiting the apartment complex on to Pine Hills Road. (XX 875) Captain Ellis activated his lights, and the brown vehicle attempted to elude Captain Ellis going 60 to 70 miles per hour northbound on Pine Hills Road. (XX 875) Captain Ellis lost sight of the vehicle, then came upon the brown vehicle after it hit the back of a unmarked sheriff's department vehicle. (XX 876) Captain Ellis observed a black male running from the driver's side of the vehicle. (XX 876) Ellis described the person as a black male, close cropped hair, blue shirt and dungarees or blue pants. (XX 878) Captain Ellis chased the suspect

into the woods and lost sight of him. (XX 879) Soon thereafter a canine officer had located a person that met Captain Ellis' description. (XX 880) During the chase of the suspect, Captain Ellis heard a shot fired at him. (XX 885)

Deputy Steven Harrielson was an Orange County Sheriff on a perimeter for a residential burglary at the intersection of Pine Hills Road and Clarion Road. (XX 888) Deputy Harrielson heard of squealing of tires from behind him and looked back and saw a older model Buick coming directly at him. (XX 889) Deputy Harrielson started running from the doorway of his vehicle trying to get out of the way and the vehicle struck the passenger rear tail of his patrol car. (XX 889) The force of the crash pushed the deputy's patrol car and the deputy was struck in the right hip and thrown into the grassy median. (XX 890) Deputy Harrielson got up and observed a black male wearing a dark shirt and baggy blue jeans running straight at him. (XX 890) The suspect began running west up Clarion Road towards Pine Hills Road. (XX 890) Deputy Harrielson observed another black male in the front passenger seat and with a large Afro and very thin. (XX 891) The suspect in the car was taken into custody. (XX 892)

A canine officer was dispatched to track the person that fled the vehicle.

(XX 904) The canine officer was told that someone had seen the person that exited the vehicle discard a blue type shirt in the area of Fred's Crane Service. (XX 904)

The canine officer started tracking from that shirt. (XX 904) The dog tracked to codefendant Maurice Lewin. (XX 907)

An additional canine officer also came to the scene to do tracking. (XX 923) The canine officer had information of an individual running south and another individual running north from the crash scene. (XX 924) The canine officer then proceeded into the nearby woods. (XX 923) Approximately thirty yards into the wood line the canine came across some items that looked like they were freshly placed there. (XX 925) The canine officer saw black and white gloves, a baseball hat and a shirt. (XX 925)

Theo Lewis was shown three different photo lineups created by the Orlando Police Department. (XX 941) One of the photo lineups included co-defendant Maurice Lewin. (XX 941) Lewis could not identify anyone out of the three different lineups. (XX 944) On December 1st Orlando Police Department was given information on a third person involved named "Derrick." (XX 944) This suspect Derrick was thought to be the cousin of Maurice Lewin. (XX 944) The Orlando Police obtained this information from the father of co-defendant James Jaggon. (XX 944) Orlando Police also obtained information from a crime line tip. (XX 945) The crime line tip stated that a person named Derrick who lived in the Rosemont area was involved in the homicide. (XX 946) The Orlando Police then

created a photo lineup including a picture of the appellant. (XX 947)

On December 9th the photo lineup including appellant was presented to Lewis. (XX 949) Lewis was asked if he could identify or recognize anyone in the photo lineup. (XX 951) Lewis identified the appellant as the shooter. (XX 951) Lewis said he was 90% sure that the appellant was the shooter. (XX 951) Lewis also identified the appellant in a live lineup. (XX 957)

Dr. Jan Garavaglia was the medical examiner that performed the autopsy on the victim Jahvon Thompson. (XX 974) The victim had three gunshot wounds. (XX 976) The shooter was on the left side of the victim and more than two feet away at the time the shots were fired. (XX 982) Each gunshot wound could have caused death. (XX 983)

James Jaggon is serving a prison sentence of twenty three years as part of an agreement to testify in this case. (XX 1024) Jaggon and Maurice Lewin decided to go to Jahvon Thompson's apartment to rob the marijuana that was there. (XX 1028) The appellant also came along for the planned robbery. (XX 1029) The three headed to Thompson's apartment in Maurice Lewin's champagne colored Buick. (XX 1029) The appellant was armed with a .380 caliber handgun. (XX 1030) Jaggon was also armed with a .45 caliber handgun that he had gotten from Maurice Lewin. (XX 1033)

Lewin came to Thompson's apartment complex and backed into a parking space. (XX 1032) It was agreed among the parties that Jaggon and the appellant would go in the apartment and there was no talk of shooting anyone. (XX 1035) Jaggon wore a ski mask and the appellant wore a black ball cap. (XX 1037) Jaggon knocked on the door and Jahvon answered and the appellant and Jaggon rushed in the apartment. (XXI 1046) Jaggon stood in the living room while the appellant searched the apartment. (XXI 1046) A few minutes later someone knocked on the door. (XXI 1047) The appellant answered the door and pointed his gun at the person. (XXI 1048) The appellant asked the visitor if he had anything on him and he searched him. (XXI 1048) The appellant told Jaggon then to leave the apartment and to shoot the lady that was outside the apartment. (XXI 1049) Jaggon did not shoot the lady because he did not feel there was a need to. (XXI 1049) While Jaggon was returning back to the car he heard gunshots from the apartment. (XXI 1050) Maurice Lewin and Jaggon drove to the nearby Pizza Hut to meet the appellant. (XXI 1051) The appellant arrived with a blue bag. (XXI 1053)

After Jaggon's arrest, he told police that he was "chilling with Jahvon" and somebody came and robbed him and they put him in the car and they crashed.

(XXI 1057) The appellant told Maurice Lewin that he wanted to see what it felt

like to shoot and kill someone. (XXI 1107) "I mean, he never really told me exactly why he shot it, he said he wanted to feel like what it feels like to shoot and kill somebody." (XXI 1107)

Law enforcement recovered gloves and a shirt in the woods adjacent to the car crash. DNA recovered from the gloves and the shirt matched the appellant's DNA. (XXII 1285, 1286) The appellant's DNA was also detected on the pillow sham that was recovered from the victim's apartment. (XXII 1292)

PENALTY PHASE

Under Sentence of Imprisonment

The appellant was placed on probation February 3, 2003, for a period of five years for attempted armed robbery. (XXIV 1686)

Prior Violent Felony

On February 25, 2002 Carolla Montouth was employed at the Fast Check of Florida. (XXIV 1687) Montouth arrived at work at 10:00 in the morning, and after she entered the business she heard a beep from someone else entering. (XXIV 1688) Montouth turned around and there was a gentleman with a gun pointed at her telling her to "shut up and don't say anything." (XXIV 1688) The appellant forced Montouth to the second floor where the safe was located. (XXIV 1688) The appellant pushed the gun towards her head told her to shut up and open the safe.

(XXIV 1688) Montouth entered the wrong code to the safe so that it would send an alarm to the security company and the safe would not open. (XXIV 1689) When the safe was not opening, the appellant turned to Montouth and said "today is your lucky day bitch, today is your lucky day" and he put her in the bathroom and closed the door. (XXIV 1689) The appellant then fled the scene. (XXIV 1689)

Mitigation Evidence

Doctor Hymen Eisenstein is a clinical psychologist with a sub-speciality in neuropsychology. (XXIV 1709) Dr. Eisenstein first met the appellant in November of 2005 and started a neuropsychological examination by administering several tests to access his cognitive and brain behavior functioning. (XXIV 1717) Dr. Eisenstein administered the Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale Third Edition. (XXIV 1718) Appellant had a verbal IQ score of 99, performance IQ score of 105 which yielded a false scale IQ score of 102.(XXIV 1720) The appellant had a standard score of 80 in testing. (XXIV 1732) A score of 80 equals falls within the 9th percentile, which is on the low end. (XXIV 1732) The appellant obtained a score of 118 in the visual testing which put him at the higher end of testing. (XXIV 1732) The clinical significance of the difference in these scores is that the appellant's brain does not process with the amount of consistency that one

normally expects between the operation of the two sides of the brain. (XXIV 1733) The appellant was administered the MMPI test and there was nothing that was strikingly abnormal. (XXIV 1741) The appellant did approach the abnormal range in the anxiety scale, and schizophrenia scale. (XXIV 1742)

Dr. Reed diagnosed the appellant with organic brain impairment and a borderline personality disorder. (XXIV 1754) The appellant suffers from cognitive brain dysfunction where there is a discrepancy in the consistency of the overall functioning of the appellant's brain. (XXIV 1754) The borderline personality disorder manifests in poor impulse control, explosiveness, depression, anger and volatility of mood. (XXIV 1754) The disorder does not rise to the level of a psychotic process, however, it is a serious mental disorder. (XXIV 1754) The appellant suffers from an emotional disturbance. (XXIV 1755)

The appellant's brother Lloyd Lewin described the childhood of the appellant. (XXV 1798) The appellant spent his early years in the Bronx, New York with extended family members. (XXV 1798) The appellant lived in a house that was shared among twenty-one other relatives. (XXV 1799) When the appellant was thirteen years old they moved to a predominately white neighborhood in Baltimore, Maryland. (XXV 1799) The neighborhood in Baltimore had racial tensions and had gangs of skin heads and Nazis that would attack blacks. (XXV

1800) While walking home from school one day the appellant was struck in the head with a baseball bat by these gang members. (XXV 1800) The appellant's parents would fight, and they would be physical. (XXV 1801) In some of the fights family members would use knives, throw glass and break objects in the house. (XXV 1802) After the appellant's mother lost her job at a local bank she would complain that people were talking about her or following her and she started to change. (XXV 1804) The appellant's mother seemed to be overly paranoid. (XXV 1804)

Dr. Jethro Toomer is a clinical and forensic psychologist who did testing of the appellant. (XXV 1823) Dr. Toomer also reviewed witness statements, records from the Orange County police department and also interviewed the appellant's father. (XXV 1821) The appellant performed the Bender Gestalt Designs Test and the results revealed there were soft signs of underlying organic impairment. (XXV 1825) The appellant also took the Kauffman Brief Intelligence Test and scored a 100 which was in the average range. (XXV 1827)

The appellant had a history of substance abuse involving marijuana alcohol and ecstasy. (XXV 1827) Based upon other testing, there was nothing to suggest that appellant suffered from an axis one psychiatric disorder such as schizophrenia. (XXV 1829) The testing did indicate that the appellant is suffering from a major

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