IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DERRICK McLEAN,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC07-2297 L.T. No. 48-2004-CF-15923-O

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

SCOTT A. BROWNE
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Florida Bar No. 0802743
Concourse Center 4
3507 East Frontage Road, Suite 200
Tampa, Florida 33607-7013
Telephone: (813) 287-7910
Facsimile: (813) 281-5501

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

were unclear. In <u>Hess</u>, there were two aggravators, during the course of a robbery and prior violent felony. The prior violent felony aggravator was based on sexual offenses committed against Hess's nieces after the murder. The victims' mother testified extensively in support of Hess, including testimony that she and her daughters forgave Hess. Further in <u>Hess</u>, this Court found "[p]articularly noteworthy is evidence that [Hess] has a history of learning disabilities, was considered ten years behind his chronological age, was considered borderline retarded during his school years and was placed in special education classes as a result of his mental or emotional infirmities." <u>Hess</u>, 794 So. 2d at 1267.

Once again, the facts of the instant murder are clear. And, the victim of the prior violent felony still remains traumatized because of McLean's action. Here, there is no evidence of low intelligence, both doctors finding McLean to be of average intelligence. (XI 1772, 1774) Thus, Hess does not support McLean's proportionality argument.¹³

Woods v. State, 733 So. 2d 980 (Fla. 1999) is also easily distinguished. Woods, a man of limited mental ability murdered out of his confusion and frustration over the purchase of an automobile. Similarly, in <u>Sinclair v. State</u>, 657 So. 2d 1138 (Fla. 1995) the defendant was a man of limited intelligence who murdered a cab driver during a robbery. The only aggravator that existed was during the course of a robbery. Here, there are three valid aggravators and a man of average intelligence.

After the robbery was completed, McLean callously murdered 16 year-old Jahvon and attempted to murder Theothlus. Both men were unarmed, were compliant and posed no threat to McLean. When Maurice asked McLean why he shot Jahvon and Theothlus, he simply replied "he wanted to see what it felt like to shoot and kill somebody." (XXI 1107) McLean's sentence for his crimes is supported by three aggravating circumstances. The mitigation urged was weak, and in instances was sparsely supported by the evidence presented. McLean's sentence is proportionate.

ISSUE III

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN CONDUCTING AN IN CAMERA BENCH CONFERENCE AT THE SPECIFIC REQUEST OF DEFENSE COUNSEL?

McLean asserts that he was improperly excluded from a bench conference wherein the defense counsel briefly described her efforts to pursue a potential alibi defense on his behalf. The State disagrees.

First, there was no objection lodged to the procedure proposed by defense counsel below. Consequently, this issue has not been preserved for appeal. Goodwin v. State, 751 So. 2d 537, 544 (Fla. 1999) ("If the error is not properly preserved or is unpreserved, the conviction can be reversed only if the error is 'fundamental.'") (citing Chandler v. State, 702 So. 2d 186, 191 (Fla. 1997), cert. denied, 523 U.S. 1083, 118 S. Ct. 1535, 140 L. Ed. 2d 685 (1998)). In fact, without conceding error in this case, the State notes that more than mere waiver, this claim would fall under the invited error doctrine. It was the defense counsel who asked that the prosecutor and defendant be excluded from any specific response on the issue of whether or not counsel was investigating an alibi defense.

"Under the invited-error doctrine, a party may not make or invite error at trial and then take advantage of the error on appeal." Goodwin v. State, 751 So. 2d 537, 544 n.8 (Fla. 1999).

See San Martin v. State, 705 So. 2d 1337, 1347 (Fla. 1997) (party may not invite error and then complain about it on appeal). Since the trial court and State simply honored the request of the defense counsel for a brief in camera bench conference, any error in the procedure below was clearly "invited."

In <u>Roberts v. State</u>, 510 So. 2d 885, 890 (Fla. 1987), this Court determined that the defendant and trial court's absence from a jury view did not require reversal. The Court noted that the error, if any, was invited:

It is apparent from the above discussion that neither the defendant nor the trial judge were present at the view. However, under the circumstances, cannot agree with Roberts that the trial court's absence mandates per se reversal under McCollum. view the above excerpt as an acknowledgement of an express waiver by defense counsel of the presence of both the defendant and the trial court. Roberts points to the comma between the words "of" and "Your Honor" last italicized sentence quoted contending that the words "the defendant" were left out of the transcript. We have been informed of no motion to correct the record and without correction the only reasonable reading of the sentence in question is as an acknowledgement by counsel of his express waiver of the trial court's presence at the view.

Roberts contends that even assuming his trial counsel waived the judge's presence, he did not acquiesce in or ratify this waiver. See Garcia v. State, 492 So.2d 360 (Fla.), cert. denied, 479 U.S. 1022, 107 S. Ct. 680, 93 L. Ed. 2d 730 (1986); Amazon v. State, 487 So.2d 8 (Fla.), cert. denied, 479 U.S. 914, 107 S. Ct. 314, 93 L. Ed. 2d 288 (1986). We find such acquiescence or ratification unnecessary under

the circumstances present in this case and hold that defense counsel's express waiver of the trial court's presence at the jury view was adequate. To hold otherwise would allow Roberts to benefit from this clearly invited error.

(emphasis added). See also Randolph v. State, 853 So. 2d 1051, 1067 (Fla. 2003) (appellate counsel not ineffective for failing to challenge defendant's absence from in chambers discussion of jury instructions where defense counsel waived defendant's presence and therefore the issue was not preserved for appeal).

As in <u>Roberts</u>, the defendant should not benefit from the procedure employed below at the behest of his defense attorney. McLean voiced no objection to the procedure proposed by his attorney below. Under similar circumstances in <u>Rodgers v. State</u>, 934 So. 2d 1207, 1216 (Fla. 2006), this Court found no error, or a waiver of the alleged error, when an attorney asked to discuss an alleged conflict with co-counsel outside of the defendant's presence. This Court stated:

We also find that Rodgers waived the right to be the hearing in the judge's chambers. present at Although criminal defendants have a due process right to be physically present at all critical stages of a trial, see Muhammad v. State, 782 So. 2d 343, 351 waived 2001), this right may be by defendant. Rodgers was advised that the in-chambers hearing would address his counsel's internal disagreement and that his counsel believed it was in Rodgers' best interest for him not to be at the hearing. Rodgers then agreed to wait in the waiting room of the judge's chambers so that he would not hear the discussion. We find no error in Rodgers' absence from the hearing in chambers.

Rodgers, 934 So. 2d at 1216. See also Carmichael v. State, 715 So. 2d 247, 249 (Fla. 1998) ("Under his proposed scenario, however, a defendant could sit silently on this right throughout the jury selection process, await the trial's conclusion, and then—in the event of an adverse outcome—raise the issue on appeal for the first time. The price of such an 'ambush'—i.e., a new trial—is prohibitively steep in terms of resources and delay—and basic fairness.").

As in <u>Rodgers</u>, McLean was present in the courtroom and failed to voice any concern or objection to the procedure proposed by his defense attorney. He was given a full and fair opportunity to voice his grievances. Indeed, at the end of the brief bench conference with the judge, the judge asked McLean if he had anything to add regarding his claims regarding counsel's alleged deficiencies. (III 269)

Aside from invited error or waiver, the State notes that McLean's apparent absence from a brief bench conference did not amount to exclusion from a "critical stage" of the proceeding.

Kentucky v. Stincer, 482 U.S. 730, 745, 107 S. Ct. 2658, 96 L.

Ed. 2d 631 (1987) ("a defendant is guaranteed the right to be present at any stage of the criminal proceeding that is critical to its outcome if his presence would contribute to the fairness of the procedure."). McLean was in fact "present" in court

during the hearing at issue. He had a full and fair opportunity to air his grievances. McLean offers nothing that he could have added during the conference wherein defense counsel briefly stated her efforts to pursue an alibi defense. Indeed, McLean does not even take issue with the underlying decision not to remove or replace defense counsel. See e.g. Kormondy v. State, 983 So. 2d 418, 436 (Fla. 2007) (even if counsel was deficient in failing to object to defendant's absence from conference, Kormondy failed to demonstrate prejudice or how his presence would have altered any decision which could have resulted in a life sentence); Vining v. State, 827 So. 2d 201, 218 (Fla. 2002) ("In relation to this claim, Vining has failed to show how he was prejudiced by his absence during the pretrial and prepenalty phase proceedings, nor has he asserted how he could have made a meaningful contribution to counsel's legal arguments during these preliminary proceedings.")

McLean never again broached the subject of alibi and raised no objection when the court queried him about not testifying at the conclusion of the guilt phase. (XXIII 1473-74) The trial court advised McLean that his attorneys had announced their intention to rest without calling any witnesses. (XXIII 1473) McLean indicated that he had discussed testifying with his two trial attorneys and that they had answered all the questions he

had about the matter. He told the court he understood his right to testify but wanted to exercise his right to remain silent.

(XXIII 1473-74)

As the transcript reflects, McLean was given an opportunity to address the court at the conclusion of the State's case at the point the defense rested. His failure to complain about the lack of an "alibi" defense at that time, clearly indicates that he and his attorneys had resolved the issue to his apparent See Davis v. State, 703 So. 2d 1055, 1059 (Fla. satisfaction. 1997) ("Davis's silence after hearing what his attorney had been doing to ready the case for trial would lead one to believe that Davis felt his concerns had been heard by the judge and his he content to proceed."). Under lawyer and was the circumstances, McLean has not established error, much less an error requiring reversal of his convictions in this case.

Finally, the State notes that aside from waiver or invited error, under the circumstances, the State questions whether or not the trial court was even obligated to hold a <u>Nelson</u> inquiry. McLean's written letter only generally complained of failure to communicate, provide him discovery, and, failure to press for his release on bond. (IX 1309) These generalized complaints about his attorneys' conduct do not implicate any legitimate concerns over whether or not counsel was in fact rendering

ineffective assistance. The specific complaint regarding a potential alibi defense only arose in open court. Such complaints expressed by McLean in this case, pressuring him to take a plea, trial strategy [alibi] and an alleged lack of communication do not suggest that counsel is incompetent. Consequently, a Nelson inquiry was not necessary.

In <u>Morrison v. State</u>, 818 So. 2d 432, 441-442 (Fla. 2002) this Court extensively analyzed the types of complaints which do not trigger the need for a full Nelson inquiry, stating:

Most recently, in Sexton v. State, 775 So. 2d 923 (Fla. 2000), this Court addressed a similar issue where the defendant claimed that the trial court erred in failing to adequately address the defendant's request for new counsel, and said: In the present case, it does not appear that [the defendant] made a formal allegation of incompetence entitling him to a Nelson hearing. . . . Because [the defendant] was merely noting his disagreement with his attorney's trial strategy and preparation and was not asserting a sufficient basis to support a contention that his attorney was incompetent, we find this point on appeal to be without merit.

Accordingly, in the instant case, Morrison did not make a formal allegation of incompetence entitling him to a Nelson hearing. Although Morrison did make several requests to replace his counsel, the claims contained in the letters submitted to the trial court centered principally around Morrison's dissatisfaction with the amount of communication between him and counsel. A lack of communication, however, is not a ground for an incompetency claim. See Watts, 593 So. 2d at 203; Parker, 570 So. 2d at 1053. Morrison also expressed displeasure with counsel's refusal provide copies of legal documents and efforts contacting witnesses. These complaints can best be described as general complaints about his attorney's

trial preparation, witness development, and trial strategy. See Dunn, 730 So. 2d at 312. As this Court repeatedly has stated, a trial court does not err in failing to conduct a Nelson inquiry where the defendant makes such general complaints and is not clearly alleging incompetence. See Davis, 703 So. 2d at 1058-59; Gudinas, 693 So. 2d at 962 n.12; see also Dunn, 730 So. 2d at 311-12.

Moreover, as stated in Lowe, a trial judge's inquiry into a defendant's complaints about his or attorneys "can only be as specific and meaningful as the defendant's complaint." 650 So. 2d at 975. While the trial court did not conduct a full Nelson inquiry in the present case, the court did inquire of defense counsel concerning the pro se motions to suppress (which included Morrison's complaints regarding counsel), at a hearing on June 26, 1998. Not only did Morrison not persist in his complaints about counsel when given the opportunity to do so at the June 26 hearing, but, following that hearing, which occurred almost three months before trial, Morrison made no further motions or complaints until after the trial was over. See Davis, 703 So. 2d 1055 at 1059 ("Davis's silence after hearing what his attorney had been doing to ready the case for trial would lead one to believe that Davis felt his concerns had been heard by the judge and his lawyer and he was content to proceed."). The one question Morrison did still have concerned his uncle Fred Austin not testifying, but this too was explained to Morrison. Given the opportunity to raise anything further, Morrison was silent. The court had every reason to assume that Morrison's concerns had been addressed and alleviated by the inquiry that occurred and the explanations given to him.

As the record indicates, the court made sufficient inquiry to determine whether there was reasonable cause to believe that counsel was not rendering effective assistance. Because Morrison was noting his disagreement with his attorney's frequency communication, trial strategy, preparation -- and was not asserting a sufficient basis to support a contention that his attorneys were incompetent -- we find Morrison's claim is without merit.

Since McLean's complaints related to the alleged lack of communication and disagreement over strategy, under Morrison the trial court was under no obligation to even conduct a Nelson inquiry. Consequently, McLean should be precluded from contending that the inquiry into his general complaints was defective or that the brief bench exchange between the trial court and his defense attorney outside of his presence entitles him to a new trial.¹⁴

In conclusion, McLean offers nothing that he could have added had he been present during the brief bench conference addressing a potential alibi. McLean did not object to the in camera bench conference review requested by his defense attorney. Indeed, as counsel noted for the trial court, they did make efforts, although futile, to investigate an alibi defense. Finally, at no further point during the pretrial or

 $^{^{14}}$ Even if this Court were to find error in excluding McLean from the bench conference, any such error is clearly harmless. McLean was offered a full and fair opportunity to air his grievances below. The fact he was not present at the bench for a single brief discussion, did not render prejudice him or render his See Jackson v. State, 983 So. 2d trial unfair or unreliable. ("To justify not (Fla. 2008) imposing contemporaneous objection rule, 'the error must reach down into the validity of the trial itself to the extent that a verdict of guilty could not have been obtained without the assistance of the alleged error.'") (citation omitted) See Finney v. Zant, 709 F.2d 643, 646 (11th Cir. 1983) ("Any error by reason of Finney's absence during trial was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt."), overruled on other grounds, Peek v. Kemp, 784 F.2d 1479 (11th Cir. 1986).

trial stage did McLean express dissatisfaction with counsel or raise the alibi issue. Thus, we can assume that the issue was resolved to the satisfaction of McLean below.

ISSUE IV

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